IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CARRINGTON HOLDINGS, LLC, **MORTGAGE**

Appellant,

v.

R VENTURES VIII, LLC, A NEVADA SERIES LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY OF THE CONTAINER R VENTURES, LLC UNDER NRS 86.296.

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Supreme Court Case No479548 04:21 p.m.
District Court Case No479548 fourt Case No479548 O4:21 p.m.
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court
The Honorable ELISSA CADISH, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-13-684151-C

OPENING BRIEF

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8276
NATALIE L. WINSLOW, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12125
AKERMAN LLP
1160 Town Center Drive, Suite 330
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1) because the district court entered summary judgment in favor of Respondent R Ventures VIII, LLC (**R Ventures**) on April 27, 2016. Notice of entry of the summary judgment was entered on May 2, 2016. Carrington filed a timely notice of appeal on June 1, 2016.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Whether the district court erred by denying summary judgment to Carrington where the undisputed evidence shows that Bank of America, N.A. (BANA) sent payment for the full super-priority portion of the lien.
- (2) Whether NRS 116.3116 is facially unconstitutional under the Due Process Clause.
- (3) Whether the foreclosure was invalid based on the tri-party agreement between First 100, United Legal Services, and the HOA.
- (4) Whether the Supremacy Clause bars a homeowners' association from foreclosing on property secured by an FHA-insured mortgage.
- (5) Whether evidence that the HOA sold its interest in the property for 6% of the fair market value of the property at the time of the foreclosure sale established a material question of fact regarding commercial reasonableness sufficient to prevent summary judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is one of many cases regarding the proper interpretation and application of NRS 116.3116 following this Court's September 2014 decision in *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014). R Ventures claims that its purchase of certain property in Clark County, Nevada, at an HOA foreclosure sale for \$10,100.00 extinguished a \$189,573.00 deed of trust held by Carrington. R Ventures moved for summary judgment, arguing that it was entitled to a judgment establishing it to be the holder of the property free and clear of Carrington's deed of trust due to the HOA foreclosure sale and the recitals in the trustee's deed that purportedly vested ownership of the property in R Ventures. The district court granted summary judgment for R Ventures and denied a crossmotion for summary judgment filed by Carrington.

First, the district court's decision should be reversed because Carrington's predecessor Bank of America tendered payment for nine months of HOA assessments prior to the HOA foreclosure sale, thereby extinguishing the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien. NRS 116 expressly limits the super-priority amount of an HOA lien to nine months' worth of assessments. Tender of that amount, even if rejected by an HOA, extinguishes the super-priority portion of the lien, leaving the HOA with a junior lien that cannot extinguish a senior deed of trust.

Second, the district court's decision should be reversed is because NRS 116.3116—as it existed before the Nevada Legislature amended it during the 2015 Term—is facially unconstitutional. On its face, the statute does not ensure that holders of senior mortgage liens receive notice before those liens are extinguished by an HOA foreclosure. Instead, senior lienholders must "opt-in" to receive advance notice of a foreclosure. Under binding law from the United States Supreme Court, such an "opt-in" regime is unconstitutional because it violates due process.

Third, prior to the HOA sale, the HOA impermissibly split its lien from the right to proceeds, in derogation of this Court's decision in *Edelstein* and its own CC&Rs. *See Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 286 P.3d 249, 258 (Nev. 2012).

Fourth, NRS 116 is preempted in this case by the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution because of its conflict with federal mortgage insurance programs.

Finally, even if the statute were constitutionally valid and Bank of America had not tendered the super-priority amount, the district court's judgment cannot be allowed to stand. The district court stated that the recitations in the deed of foreclosure sale were "conclusive proof" that all legal requirements had been satisfied, a proposition that was flatly rejected by this Court in *Shadow Wood*

Homeowners Association, Inc. v. New York Community Bancorp, Inc., 366 P.3d 1105, 1110-11 (Nev. 2016). Additionally, the district court granted summary judgment despite evidence that the sale was conducted in a commercially unreasonable manner. That evidence created material questions of fact that precluded a summary judgment in R Ventures' favor.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Factual Background

A. The Deed of Trust History

On May 17, 2008, borrower Joyce Pierce purchased property located at 6175 Novelty Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148. She later refinanced ownership of the property by way of a loan with Taylor Bean & Whitaker Mortgage Corporation in the amount of \$189,573.00 secured by a deed of trust (the **senior deed of trust**) dated June 17, 2009. (J.A. at 340-49.) The deed of trust states that the loan at issue is insured by the Federal Housing Administration (**FHA**), and that the FHA case number is 332-4640005-703. (*Id.* at 340.) The deed of trust repeatedly references the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development (**HUD**), including how the lender is to make mortgage insurance premiums to HUD. (*See, e.g., id.* at 342.) Mortgage Electronic Registration Services, Inc. later assigned the deed of trust to Bank of America, N.A. (*Id.* at 351-52.) On February 3, 2015, Bank of

America assigned the deed of trust to Carrington Mortgage Services, LLC. (*Id.* at 354-57.)¹

B. Red Rock's Foreclosure History and Bank of America's Tender

On April 23, 2010, Red Rock Financial Services, LLC (Red Rock), on behalf of Southern Terrace Homeowners Association (HOA), recorded a lien for delinquent assessments. (Id. at 183.) The notice stated the amount due to the HOA was \$739.00. which included "assessments, late fees. interest, fines/violations and collection fees and costs." (Id.) According to Red Rock's records, in June of 2010 the HOA received payment for the entire amount referenced in the April 23, 2010 notice, including the super-priority amount equal to nine months of assessments. (Id. at 379-89.) Red Rock recorded a release of lien for delinquent assessments on July 27, 2010. (*Id.* at 391.)

On September 10, 2010, Red Rock, on behalf of the HOA, recorded a second lien for delinquent assessments. (*Id.* at 393.) The notice stated the amount due to the HOA was \$2,581.69, which included "assessments, late fees, interest, fines/violations and collection fees and costs." (*Id.*) On November 14, 2012, Red Rock, on behalf of the HOA, recorded a notice of default and election to sell pursuant to the lien for delinquent assessments. (*Id.* at 395.) Per the notice, the borrower owed the HOA \$2,359.84. (*Id.*)

5

¹ The litigation asserts claims against Carrington Mortgage Holdings, LLC, rather than the real party in interest Carrington Mortgage Services, LLC.

On December 14, 2012, in response to the notice of default, Bank of America's counsel at Miles Bauer Bergstrom & Winters (**Miles Bauer**) contacted the HOA to obtain a payoff ledger for the 9-month super-priority lien. (*Id.* at 409-10.) The HOA responded on December 27, 2012, sending a ledger showing that the monthly master assessment amount was \$62.00 per month, and that the HOA also charged an assessment amount of \$8.00 per month. (*Id.* at 412-23.) On January 10, 2013, Miles Bauer tendered a check for \$655.14—which was for *more* than the super-priority portion of the HOA's lien—which Red Rock rejected without explanation. (*Id.* at 435-37; 439; 405-07.)

C. First 100, LLC Purchased the HOA's Payment Rights Pre-Foreclosure

After Red Rock recorded the notice of default, the HOA sold its right to payment on a number of liens—including the lien at issue in this case—to First 100, LLC. (*Id.* at 359-75.) Per the agreement, First 100 paid the HOA \$966.00 for the payment rights on the lien for the subject property. (*Id.* at 371.) The lien, however, remained with the HOA and was not sold to First 100. (*See id.* at 359-75.) The sale of the payment rights to First 100 required the HOA to retain United Legal Services as a foreclosure trustee. (*Id.* at 361.) First 100 covered all collection costs charged by Red Rock, as well as the fees charged by United Legal Services. (*Id.* at 363.)

...

On May 9, 2013, United Legal Services recorded a notice of foreclosure sale on behalf of the HOA, alleging that \$4,431.93 was required to satisfy the HOA's lien. (*Id.* at 397.) On June 3, 2013, United Legal Services, on behalf of the HOA, recorded a foreclosure deed. (*Id.* at 399.) Although the deed does not state the price R Ventures paid at the sale, R Ventures concedes it paid a mere \$10,100.00 for its interest in the property. (*Id.* at 403.) The undisputed fair market value of the property at the time of the foreclosure was \$163,000.00. (*Id.* at 528-48.)

II. Procedural Background

On June 26, 2013, R Ventures filed its complaint for quiet title and injunctive relief. (J.A. at 2-10.) On April 28, 2015, R Ventures and Carrington stipulated to add Carrington as a defendant, which the Court approved on May 8, 2015. (J.A. at 31-33.) Carrington filed its answer, counterclaims against R Ventures, and crossclaims against the HOA on July 27, 2015. (*Id.* at 46-69.)

On February 24, 2016, R Ventures and Carrington filed cross motions for summary judgment. The district court granted R Ventures' motion for summary judgment and denied Carrington's motion for summary judgment on April 27, 2016, and a notice of entry was filed on May 2, 2016. (*Id.* at 549-53; 554-61.)

...

•••

...

On May 19, 2016, Carrington filed a motion for reconsideration of the orders on summary judgment. (*Id.* at 568-84.) R Ventures opposed. (*Id.* at 601-06.) The district court denied Carrington's motion for reconsideration, and a notice of entry was filed on August 18, 2016. (*Id.* at 658-59; 660-64.)

On July 6, 2016, R Ventures moved for its attorneys' fees and costs. (*Id.* at 628-34.) Carrington opposed. (*Id.* at 646-51.) The district court granted R Ventures' motion for its attorneys' fees and costs on September 8, 2016. *Id.* at 701-03.) The court found, *inter alia*, that NRS 116.3116 provides for a mandatory award of reasonable attorneys' fees for a prevailing party, and that R Ventures' claims were the type contemplated by the statute. (*Id.*) The district court awarded R Ventures costs and fees in the amount of \$25,465.50, and a notice of entry was filed on September 29, 2016. (*Id.*)

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). A motion for summary judgment should be granted "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.*; NRCP 56(c). All evidence and inferences must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-

moving party on a summary judgment motion. *Safeway*, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029.

II. The HOA Foreclosure Did Not Affect the Superior Deed of Trust because Bank of America's Tender Satisfied the Super-Priority Portion of the HOA Lien

This Court should reverse the district court's grant of summary judgment because Bank of America, as prior deed of trust beneficiary, tendered payment to the HOA for the super-priority lien that gave rise to R Ventures' interest in the property. The HOA's bad faith rejection of that tender does not blunt its impact on the subordinate title the HOA passed to R Ventures.

A. Bank of America's Tender of Nine Months of Assessments Satisfied the Super-Priority Portion of the HOA Lien

In *SFR Investments*, this Court twice noted that the holder of the first deed of trust "could have paid off the [HOA] lien to avert loss of its security[.]" *SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 334 P.3d 408, 414 (Nev. 2014). Bank of America did just that.

1. Bank of America's tender of nine months of assessments extinguished the super-priority lien

Recently, this Court specifically held that a first deed of trust beneficiary's offer of payment to an HOA for the full amount of the HOA's super-priority lien extinguished the super-priority lien and protected the deed of trust *even though the HOA refused to accept payment.* In *Stone Hollow Avenue Trust v. Bank of*

America, N.A., No. 64955, 2016 WL _____ (Nev. Aug. 11, 2016), Stone Hollow purchased property at an HOA foreclosure sale, then sued Bank of America, seeking a judgment that it owned the property free and clear of Bank of America's security interest. After the district court granted summary judgment in Bank of America's favor, Stone Hollow appealed. On appeal, this Court first ordered reversal based on Stone Hollow's argument that it was a bona fide purchaser for value. But after reconsideration, this Court issued an order affirming the judgment based on Bank of America's tender of payment to the HOA. This Court found that the HOA's rejection of payment for the full super-priority amount of the lien was "unjustified," and that "[w]hen rejection of a tender is unjustified, the tender is effective to discharge the lien." *Id.*, slip op. at 1.

This Court's prescription for protecting a senior deed of trust—which Bank of America followed in this case—is well-grounded in Nevada law. For at least fifty years, this Court has consistently held that an offer to pay is sufficient tender. *See, e.g., Ebert v. W. States Refining Co.*, 75 Nev. 217, 221-222, 337 P.2d 1075, 1077 (1959). Furthermore, tender is complete when "the money is offered to a creditor who is entitled to receive it[.]" *Cladianos v. Friedhoff*, 69 Nev. 41, 45, 240 P.2d 208, 210 (1952). After the money owed is offered to the creditor, "nothing further remains to be done, and the transaction is completed and ended." *Id.*

Other jurisdictions agree that tender is defined as "an offer of payment that is coupled either with no conditions or only with conditions upon which the tendering party has a right to insist." Fresk v. Kramer, 99 P.3d 282, 286-87 (Or. 2004) (emphasis added); see also 74 AM. Jur. 2D Tender § 22 (2014). It is irrelevant whether any money actually changes hands—tender is complete upon the offer to pay. See Guthrie v. Curnutt, 417 F.2d 764, 765-66 (10th Cir. 1969) ("[W]hen a party, able and willing to do so, offers to pay another a sum of money and is told that it will not be accepted, the offer is a tender without the money being produced."). Several courts have also held that a tender made, even if rejected, precludes foreclosure and discharges the subject lien. See Bisno v. Sax, 346 P.2d 814, 820 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1959) ("[T]he acceptance of payment of a delinquent installment of principal or interest cures that particular default and precludes a foreclosure sale based upon such a preexisting delinquency. The same is true of a tender which has been made and rejected."); Lichty v. Whitney, 182 P.2d 582, 582 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1947) ("A tender of the amount of a debt, though refused, extinguishes the lien of a pledgee."); Segars v. Classen Garage & Serv. Co., 612 P.2d 293, 295 (Okla. Civ. App. 1980) ("A proper and sufficient tender of payment operates to discharge a lien.").

The drafters of NRS 116 also contemplated that tender of the super-priority amount should preserve a first deed of trust holder's interest in the foreclosed

Uniform Act), adopted by Nevada as NRS 116, contemplated this result when drafting the super-priority provision, stating that "[a]s a practical matter, secured lenders will most likely pay the [nine] months assessments demanded by the association rather than having the association foreclose on the unit." Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act § 3116 cmt. 1 (1982) (cited with approval in *SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 334 P.3d 408, 414 (Nev. 2014)).²

Further, the Nevada Real Estate Division of the Department of Business and Industry (the **Agency**), the agency charged with administering NRS 116, has explained that it is "likely that the holder of the first security interest will pay the super priority lien amount to avoid foreclosure by [an HOA]." 13–01 Op. Dep't of Bus. & Indus., Real Estate Div. 18 (2012) (hereinafter **Agency Letter**); *see also Folio v. Briggs*, 99 Nev. 30, 34, 656 P.2d 842, 844 (1983) (explaining that courts "are obliged to attach substantial weight to [an] agency's interpretation" of a statute it is charged with administering).

Here, Bank of America offered to do just that—pay a sum equivalent to "the nine months of assessments for common expenses"—in order to "fully discharge its obligations to the HOA." (J.A. at 410.) The HOA's agent, Red Rock,

_

This Court cited to the official comments to the Uniform Act extensively when analyzing NRS 116.3116 in *SFR Investments*. See 334 P.3d at 412 ("An official comment written by the drafters of a statute and available to the legislature before the statute is enacted has considerable weight as an aid to statutory construction.").

responded to Bank of America's offer requesting that value with a statement of account that included a precise amount of monthly master assessments of \$62.00 and assessments of \$8.00, along with other amounts unrelated to the super-priority lien. (*Id.* at 412-23.) Bank of America tendered \$655.14 to Red Rock—an amount in excess of the nine months of assessments. (*Id.* at 435-37.)

The HOA's rejection of Bank of America's tender did not neutralize it; the tender was complete when made. Here, Bank of America did not just *offer to pay* the super-priority lien—which would have been sufficient tender—it also *sent payment* in excess of the maximum amount of the super-priority lien.

The district court's decision incorrectly analyzed Bank of America's tender and held that the tender was "conditional" in that Bank of America conditioned that the remainder of the HOA lien was extinguished. (J.A. at 551.) But the tender was not conditional, and the tender satisfied the super-priority portion of the HOA's lien.

2. Bank of America tendered the correct amount

As to the precise value of super-priority lien, statutory language, agency interpretation, and this Court's precedent all set it at nine months of the assessments. NRS 1163116, *SFR Investments*, and the Agency Letter are consistent in stating that the super-priority lien includes only nine months of assessments and charges for maintenance and nuisance-abatement. Moreover, this

Court held in *Ikon Holdings* that the super-priority lien established by the HOA Lien Statute "is limited to an amount equal to the common expense assessments due during the nine months before foreclosure." *Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners Assoc. v. Ikon Holdings, LLC*, 373 P.3d 66, 72 (Nev. 2016). Despite HOAs' frequent efforts to collect more than the statute provides—both by making greater demands on lenders and by hiding the value until they can foreclose on the undifferentiated liens—this Court's holding is clear: Nevada law limits the super-priority value in this case to nine months of assessments.

This super-priority amount is equal to the amount of assessments that "would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the nine months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien" *See* NRS 116.3116(2); *accord* Agency Letter (explaining that "the total amount of the super priority lien attributable to assessments is no more than 9 months of the monthly assessments reflected in the association's budget.").

Nothing in the record contradicts Bank of America's straightforward calculations. The payment *was in excess of* the super-priority amount. Bank of America therefore satisfied its obligations to the HOA under NRS 116 and protected the senior deed of trust from being wiped out by what was, in fact, a foreclosure on the HOA's remaining sub-priority lien.

. . .

3. The district court erred when it held that Bank of America made a "conditional offer" of payment

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