#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CARRINGTON HOLDINGS, LLC,

Appellant,

VS.

R VENTURES VIII, LLC, a Nevada series limited liability company of the container R VENTURES, LLC under NRS § 86.296;

Respondent.

Case No.: 70545

District Court:

A-13-684151-C

Electronically Filed Dec 06 2016 11:46 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

### APPEAL

#### From the Eighth Judicial District Court

## The Honorable Valerie Adair

### **RESPONDENT R VENTURES VIII, LLC'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Introduction

This appeal arises out of a counter motion for summary judgment where R Ventures VIII, LLC was ultimately granted summary judgment in a quiet title action. R Ventures VIII, LLC purchased the property at issue at an HOA foreclosure sale pursuant to NRS 116. This appeal followed alleging the lower court erred because NRS 116 is unconstitutional and the sale was commercially unreasonable as a matter of law or otherwise legally deficient.

#### Summary of the Argument

Carrington Mortgage claims six errors made by the lower court. First, Carrington Mortgage claims the lower court erred because the statute does not mandate notice to a recorded lienholder and is therefore unconstitutional. Second, Carrington Mortgage claims an offer of payment extinguished the super-priority portion of the HOA lien prior to the foreclosure sale. Third, Carrington Mortgage claims a private agreement impermissibly split the HOA lien. Fourth, Carrington Mortgage claims federal law preempts NRS 116. Fifth, Carrington Mortgage claims reliance on conclusive presumptions established by statute is impermissible. Finally, Carrington Mortgage claims the sale was commercially unreasonable. Each of these arguments will be discussed in turn. This Court must reject Carrington Mortgage's claim the statute is facially unconstitutional. First, this Court has already upheld an as-applied challenge to NRS 116 in *SFR*. Next, the language of the statute incorporates mandatory notice provisions in NRS 107.090 as well as requires notice to all lienholders of record through NRS 116.31163(2).

This Court must reject Carrington Mortgage claim that an offer of payment extinguished the super-priority portion of the HOA lien prior to the foreclosure sale. The attempted payment included an impermissible condition that would extinguish the remainder of the HOA lien. When the attempted payment was rejected, Carrington Mortgage did nothing to protect its interest. Additionally, as a bona fide purchaser for value, any defect in the title cannot be imputed to R Ventures VIII.

This Court must reject Carrington Mortgage's claim that a private agreement impermissibly split the HOA lien. First, the text and purpose of the agreement clearly state the HOA retained the right to foreclose and did not split the lien. Second, this agreement is explicitly permitted in the HOA's CC&Rs. Finally, a lien splitting prohibition is applicable only in the context of the Foreclosure Mediation Program.

This Court must reject Carrington Mortgage's claim that federal law preempts NRS 116. The applicable federal agency has only an insurance interest

insufficient to impute federal preemption. Alternatively, the applicable federal regulations and guidance explicitly require a mortgagee to pay HOA assessments.

This Court must reject Carrington Mortgage's claim that reliance on conclusive presumptions established by statute is impermissible. Even if these conclusive presumptions are rejected, Carrington Mortgage never disputed the evidence establishing compliance with NRS 116 rendering this argument moot.

Finally, this Court must reject Carrington Mortgage's claim the HOA foreclosure sale was commercially unreasonable. Carrington Mortgage relies exclusively on the purchase price at the HOA foreclosure sale; however, black letter law clearly indicates Carrington Mortgage must have produced some evidence of impropriety in the sale that contributed to this low purchase price. Because Carrington Mortgage failed to present any evidence, the lower court's ruling must stand.

#### Argument

#### I. As Applied Analysis Proscribes Facial Challenge.

The Nevada Supreme Court recently upheld an as-applied challenge to the constitutionality of NRS 116. *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014). A facial challenge requires a finding all applications of a statute will be unconstitutional based upon the text of the statute.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held at least one application of the statute is

constitutional. *Id.* First, the Court credited the allegations in the Plaintiff's Complaint as true, most pertinently that the plaintiff had complied with all notice requirements. *Id.* Second, the Court concluded "U.S. Bank's due process challenge to the lack of adequate notice fails, at least at this early stage in the proceeding." *Id* at 22. Consequently, the Court left open the factual challenge of notice; however, clearly indicated that if the notice requirements were followed, the due process challenge will fail. Thus, one application of the statute is valid. Logically, if one application of the statute is constitutional, all applications of the statute cannot be unconstitutional.

# II. NRS 116 Requires Notice to Be Given to A Record Interest Holder.

Even ignoring NRS 116.31168(1)'s incorporation of the mandatory notice provisions in NRS 107.090 that require copies of the notice of default and notice of sale to be mailed to "[e]ach other person with an interest who interest or claimed interest is subordinate..." to the association's lien, NRS 116 provides an additional requirement to notify recorded interest holders.

NRS 116.31163(2) explicitly provides for notice to "any holder of a recorded security interest encumbering the unit's owner's interest who has notified the association, 30 days before the recordation of the notice of default, of the

existence of the security interest." When read in conjunction with NRS 111.320

which states:

## Filing of conveyances or other instruments is notice to all persons: Effect on subsequent purchasers and mortgagees.

Every such conveyance or instrument of writing, acknowledged or proved and certified, and recorded in the manner prescribed in this chapter or in NRS 105.010 to 105.080, inclusive, must from the time of filing the same with the Secretary of State or recorder for record, impart notice to all persons of the contents thereof; and subsequent purchasers and mortgagees shall be deemed to purchase and take with notice.

A foreclosing party must impart the notice to the security interest provided for in

NRS 116.31163(2). The statute plainly states all persons receive notice when a

document is recorded. Here, Carrington Mortgage's predecessors in interest

provided notice to Southern Terrace HOA of its interest by recording the

assignment of deed of trust on October 6, 2011. Thus, Southern Terrace HOA was

required to give notice to Carrington Mortgage.

NRS 116.31165(1)(b)(2) also incorporates this language by requiring mailing a copy of the notice of sale to be sent to "the holder of a recorded security interest of the purchaser of the unit, if either of them has notified the association, before the mailing of the notice of the sale, of the existence of the security interest, lease, or contract of sale." Here, Southern Terrace HOA is necessarily put on notice via the recordation of the prior deed of trust pursuant to NRS 111.320. Consequently, Southern Terrace HOA must have provided the notice of sale to

Carrington Mortgage. Notably, Carrington Mortgage did not meaningfully dispute

receipt of notice but merely its sufficiency as notice of the super priority amount.

JA at 257-59.

## III. Offer of Payment Was Insufficient to Set Aside the Sale.

## a. Offer to Pay Was Conditional.

A tender must be an unconditional offer. *Black's Law Dictionary* pg. 1479 (7<sup>th</sup> ed. 1999). However, in the letter dated January 10, 2013, the alleged tender

was considered to be:

...a non-negotiable amount and any endorsement of said cashier's check on your part, whether express or implied, will be strictly construed as an unconditional acceptance on you part of the facts stated herein and express agreement that BANA's financial obligations towards the HOA in regards to the real property located at 6175 Novelty Street have now been "**paid in full**." (emphasis added). JA at 435.

Merely calling it a tender does not make it so. The condition attached to this

payment was a full satisfaction of the debt, both the super-priority and the subpriority portions of the HOA lien. Under no circumstances could this be considered an unconditional offer. While the junior portion of the HOA lien may lose its secured interest in the Property after a foreclosure sale by a superior interest, it exists as a debt and cannot be demanded to be abandoned. If the Property was foreclosed by the lender, the excess proceeds, if any, would need to be distributed down the priority of existing liens. Thus, Bank of America had no right to demand the HOA extinguish this interest.

Carrington Mortgage cites to two contract cases to support its contention a tender is completed upon a mere offer. However, a closer examination of both cases shows this interpretation is wholly incorrect.

First, *Cladianos v. Friedhoff*, deals with the law of contract and whether a tender of services was sufficient to sustain the contract. Tender, in the context used, is wholly different from the legal tender in the context of mortgages. Specifically, the case stated:

> The nature of this 'tender' is set forth in 12 Am.Jur. 891, Contracts, § 334, as follows: 'The word 'tender' as used in such a connection does not mean the same kind of offer as when it is used in reference to the payment or offer to pay an ordinary debt due in money, where the money is offered to a creditor who is entitled to receive it, nothing further remains to be done, and the transaction is completed and ended; but it means only a readiness and willingness accompanied with an ability on the part of one of the parties to do the acts which the agreement requires him to perform, provided the other will concurrently do the things which he is required by it to do, and a notice by the former to the latter of such readiness. Such readiness, ability, and notice are sufficient evidence of, and indeed imply, an offer or tender in the sense in which those terms are used in reference to mutual and concurrent agreements. It is not an absolute, unconditional offer to do or transfer anything at all events, but it is, in its nature, conditional only, and dependent on, and to be performed only in case of, the readiness of the other party to perform his part of the

agreement.' Id., 69 Nev. 41, 210 (1952).

As stated, this entire section specifically excludes tender with respect to the payment of offer to pay an ordinary debt due in money. Similarly, *Ebert v. Western States Refining Co.*, deals with contract reformation and makes no mention of tender, much less of tender applicable to the present controversy. The only potential reference is to an unconditional option to purchase; however, this application to the present controversy is a mystery.

Ultimately, this offer of payment is insufficient to discharge the HOA lien.

#### b. Carrington Mortgage Failed To Act.

In *Shadow Wood*, the Nevada Supreme Court held the district court should have conducted a full hearing on the equities, noting the lender's inaction, "NYCB knew the sale had been scheduled and that it disputed the lien amount, yet it did not attend the sale, request arbitration to determine the amount owed, or seek to enjoin the sale pending judicial determination of the amount owed," weighed heavily against the lender. *Id.* at 19. "Where the complaining party has access to all the facts surrounding the questioned transaction and merely makes a mistake as to the legal consequences of his act, equity should normally not interfere, especially where the rights of third parties might be prejudiced thereby." *Id.* at 24.

*SFR* requires a lender to exercise due diligence and take necessary steps to preserve its rights including "paying the entire amount and requesting a refund of the balance." *Id.* at 418. According to the payment scheme under NRS

116.31164(3)(c), the lender would be able to recover a substantial majority of the bid price in excess of the super-priority amount as their junior lien would be next in line. After deducting the super-priority lien, they would receive a substantial majority of their bid amount and may dispute the rest in a small claims action. Additionally, Carrington Mortgage must deposit the alleged tender upon rejection amount into court to forestall a foreclosure. *Bisno v. Sax*, 346 P.2d 814, 820 (Cal. Ct. App. 1959); See also 59 C.J.S. *Mortgages* § 506, p. 826, stating: 'A tender of payment or performance sufficient to discharge the mortgage may preclude foreclosure and a proceeding already commenced may be stopped by paying what is due into court.'

Here, Carrington Mortgage and its predecessors in interest did nothing to alert bidders at the auction of a dispute. It did not attend the sale. It did not request arbitration to determine the amount owed. It did not enjoin the sale pending judicial determination of the amount owed. It did not record a lis pendens. It failed to request a partial release of the HOA lien reflecting their attempted payment. It failed to tender the full amount state by the HOA under dispute. It did not deposit the amount into court. Carrington Mortgage failed to exercise any diligence to preserve their property rights.

#### c. R Ventures VIII Purchased Without Any Notice of Tender.

Here, R Ventures VIII purchased the property at an auction without notice of

any purported defense of Carrington Mortgage. While R Ventures VIII had record notice of the deed of trust, a properly conducted HOA sale would extinguish this interest, permitting R Ventures VIII to take the Property without notice of any claim of superior title. It is undisputed R Ventures VIII had no knowledge of any purported defect in the sale of the Property. Thus, no actual defect in the foreclosure sale would defeat R Ventures VIII's claim because it did not have any notice and is protected as a bona fide purchaser for value. This protection extends even to when a sale did not comply with constitutionally required notice under *Mullane. See Swartz v. Adams*, 93 Nev. 240, 563 P.2d 74 (1977).

The lender can provide no evidence that the purchaser knew or should have known about the disputed lien amount or attempts to pay the lien; and, consequently, the potential harm to the purchaser must be taken into account. *Shadow Wood*. at 24. R Ventures VIII's affidavit definitively affirms R Ventures VIII had no knowledge of any tender. JA at 238. Further, the audio recording of the auction has Mr. Atkinson list the properties where a partial payment has been at issue. JA at 220-36. Notably, the Property was not among that list. *Id*. Consequently, R Ventures VIII would never had been required to inquire about the status of a purported tender, especially with the disclosure at the auction.

#### IV. Tri-Party Agreement Had No Effect on the HOA Sale

Carrington Mortgage make three claims regarding the PSA, each will be discussed in detail below. First, Carrington Mortgage claim the PSA satisfied the HOA Lien and eliminated their ability to foreclose; however, the express terms of the PSA and testimony of a party to the PSA clearly show otherwise. Second, Carrington Mortgage argue NRS 116.3102(p) prohibits the PSA despite the express authorization contained in the HOA's CC&Rs. Finally, Carrington Mortgage dubiously claim the PSA split the HOA Lien, impermissible under case law applicable to the Foreclosure Mediation Program. However, such a program does not apply to foreclosures under NRS 116.

#### a. HOA Retained Right to Foreclose

According to the text of the purchase and sale agreement ("PSA"), First 100 acquired rights to the proceeds of a monetization event triggered by notice of foreclosure sale. JA at 359-75. To read this PSA to eliminate the ability of the HOA's ability to pursue foreclosures would negate the intent of the PSA and the understanding of the contracting parties. The carefully crafted PSA ensured the HOA retained the HOA lien and the ability to foreclose through its newly designated collection agent, United Legal Services, Inc. After the foreclosure sale was completed, the disbursements of funds was made to United Legal Services, Inc. as the authorized agent of the HOA. Once the HOA had satisfied its HOA lien,

those satisfied funds were contractually obligated to be transferred to First 100.

#### b. CC&Rs Authorized the HOA to Enter Into the Agreement.

As specifically enumerated in the CC&Rs Section 5.1, the HOA had the ability to enter into any contract not specifically prohibited by the governing documents. JA at 465. Carrington Mortgage has not provided any citation to these governing documents that would prohibit the type of arrangement agreed upon in the PSA. NRS 116.3102(p) specifically permits express powers to assign future income, even general expressions of powers like those contained in Section 5.1. Consequently, the HOA had the power to enter into the PSA.

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